

Regular Council

Monday, November 27, 2017

- **Council Chambers** Place: Richmond City Hall Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie Present: Councillor Chak Au Councillor Derek Dang Councillor Carol Day Councillor Ken Johnston Councillor Alexa Loo Councillor Bill McNulty Councillor Linda McPhail Councillor Harold Steves Corporate Officer - David Weber Call to Order: Mayor Brodie called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. RES NO. ITEM **MINUTES**
- R17/20-1 1. It was moved and seconded *That:*
 - (1) the minutes of the Regular Council meeting held on November 14, 2017, be adopted as circulated; and
 - (2) the minutes of the Regular Council meeting for Public Hearings held on November 20, 2017, be adopted as circulated.

CARRIED

1.

Minutes



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

AGENDA ADDITIONS & DELETIONS

That Part (4) be added to Item No. 22 and read "That the above recommendations and staff report be forwarded to the Council/School Board Liaison Committee."

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

R17/20-2 2. It was moved and seconded *That Council resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on agenda items (7:02 p.m.).*

CARRIED

3. Item No. 8 – Minoru Place Activity Centre Reuse Options

A letter from the Richmond Arts Coalition, dated February 17, 2017, was distributed on table (copy on-file, City Clerk's Office).

Linda Barnes and Rob Fillo, representing the Richmond Arts Coalition, spoke in support of repurposing the Minoru Place Activity Centre and expressed that currently available arts programming space is insufficient for the city's population and demand for arts programs. It was further noted that although the City works with the arts community in prioritizing programs, it should examine options to expand available art programming space in the future.

Item No. 22 – Amendments to Local Election Campaign Financing Legislation

Kelly Greene, Richmond resident, spoke on proposed limitations to fundraising and spending for slate candidates in comparison to independent candidates and expressed concern that the proposal to apply tax deductions for donations to municipal campaigns would increase costs to taxpayers.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

Item No. 23 – Proposed Changes: Steveston Area Plan, Village Heritage Conservation Policies, Design Guidelines and Long-Term Bayview, Moncton and Chatham Street Visions

Lorne Slye, 11911 3rd Avenue, expressed concern that the proposed changes to the Steveston Area Plan may negatively affect in-stream development applications along the waterfront.

Item No. 23 – Proposed Changes: Steveston Area Plan, Village Heritage Conservation Policies, Design Guidelines and Long-Term Bayview, Moncton and Chatham Street Visions

Ken Chow, Architect, expressed concern regarding the proposed changes to the Steveston Area Plan, noting that he is currently working on a development in Steveston and the proposed changes may render the project economically unfeasible.

R17/20-3 4. It was moved and seconded *That Committee rise and report (7:25 p.m.).*

CARRIED

CONSENT AGENDA

R17/20-4 5. It was moved and seconded *That Items No. 6 through No. 21 be adopted by general consent.*

CARRIED

6. COMMITTEE MINUTES

That the minutes of:

- (1) the Special General Purposes Committee meeting held on November 14, 2017;
- (2) the Community Safety Committee meeting held on November 15, 2017;
- (3) the General Purposes Committee meeting held on November 20, 2017;



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- (4) the Planning Committee meeting held on November 21, 2017;
- (5) the Public Works and Transportation Committee meeting held on November 22, 2017; and
- (6) the Council/School Board Liaison Committee meeting held on November 8, 2017;

be received for information.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

7. RCMP MONTHLY ACTIVITY REPORT - SEPTEMBER 2017 (File Ref. No. 09-5375-02) (REDMS No. 5576972)

That a letter be written to the Vancouver Airport Authority to review RCMP staff resources required to accommodate the increase in volume through Vancouver Airport.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

8. MINORU PLACE ACTIVITY CENTRE REUSE OPTIONS (File Ref. No. 11-7140-20-MSCE1) (REDMS No. 5514772 v.13; 5521863; 5520374; 5601368)

- (1) That the recommended option, Option 1: Community Education and Arts Space, be approved as the preferred reuse of the Minoru Place Activity Centre as detailed in the staff report titled "Minoru Place Activity Centre Reuse Options," dated October 31, 2017, from the Interim Director, Parks and Recreation;
- (2) That the recommended option, Option 1: Community Education and Arts Space, be considered as part of the Minoru Park Vision Plan, as detailed in the staff report titled "Minoru Place Activity Centre Reuse Options," dated October 31, 2017, from the Interim Director, Parks and Recreation; and
- (3) That staff consider the financing for the use and restoration of the Minoru Place Activity Centre, the specific uses within community education and arts usage of the building, and accommodating other community groups with space needs.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

9. 2018 AGE-FRIENDLY COMMUNITIES GRANT SUBMISSION (File Ref. No. 03-1087-32-01; 07-3400-01) (REDMS No. 5621510 v.3 5595499)

- (1) That the application to the Union of British Columbia Municipalities (UBCM) 2018 Age-friendly Communities Grant Program for \$25,000 in the Age-friendly Assessments, Action Plans and Planning Category be endorsed; and
- (2) That, should the funding application be successful, the Chief Administrative Officer and a General Manager be authorized to enter into agreement with the UBCM for the above mentioned project and the 5-Year Financial Plan (2018-2022) be updated accordingly.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

10. PROPOSED TAXATION FRAMEWORK FOR CANNABIS PRODUCTS

(File Ref. No. 03-1240-03-05) (REDMS No. 5657159 v. 2; 5660256)

That the comments summarized in the staff report titled, "Proposed Taxation Framework for Cannabis Products", dated November 16, 2017, including that the municipal share of revenue be no less than 50 cents per gram, be approved for submission to the federal government.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

11. ELECTION RESERVE AND ADVANCE PLANNING FOR THE 2018 ELECTION

(File Ref. No. 12-8125-80-01) (REDMS No. 5490268 v.2; 5656539; 5656709)

- (1) That a divisional-voting approach to the 2018 election, which is consistent with the current Civic Election Administration and Procedure Bylaw, and as generally described in the staff report dated November 3, 2017 from the Director, City Clerk's Office, be approved; and
- (2) That the following additional level requests be considered as part of the 2018 budget process:
 - (a) a one-time additional level request in the amount of \$130,000 for the 2018 election, and



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- (b) an ongoing additional level request in the amount of \$45,000 to increase the annual Election Reserve transfer for the 2018 election and for future elections;
- (3) That the above recommendations and staff report be forwarded to the Council/School Board Liaison Committee.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

12. RICHMOND INTERCULTURAL ADVISORY COMMITTEE -TERMS OF REFERENCE UPDATE

(File Ref. No.01-0100-30-RIAD1-01) (REDMS No. 5585111 v. 6; 5627225; 5624275; 5626097)

That the proposed updated Richmond Intercultural Advisory Committee (RIAC) Terms of Reference be endorsed as presented in the staff report titled "Richmond Intercultural Advisory Committee – Terms of Reference Update," dated October 25, 2017 from the General Manager, Community Services.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

13. APPLICATION BY KEN PHUAH FOR REZONING AT 10011 SEACOTE ROAD FROM "SINGLE DETACHED (RS1/E)" ZONE TO "COMPACT SINGLE DETACHED (RC2)" ZONE (File Ref. No. 12, 8060, 20, 000789; RZ 17, 778570) (REDMS No. 5616080; 5632825)

(File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-009788; RZ 17-778570) (REDMS No. 5616980; 5632835)

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 9788, for the rezoning of 10011 Seacote Road from "Single Detached (RS1/E)" zone to "Compact Single Detached (RC2)" zone, be introduced and given first reading.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

14. APPLICATION BY RAJ DHALIWAL FOR REZONING AT 10460 WILLIAMS ROAD FROM "SINGLE DETACHED (RS1/E)" ZONE TO "COMPACT SINGLE DETACHED (RC2)" ZONE (File Ref. No. 12-8060-20-009789; RZ 17-784468) (REDMS No. 5625865; 1791415; 5636129)

That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw 9789, for the rezoning of 10460 Williams Road from "Single Detached (RS1/E)" zone to "Compact Single Detached (RC2)" zone, be introduced and given first reading.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

6.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- 15. **CITY** OF RICHMOND-TRANSLINK TRAVELSMART PARTNERSHIP – COMPLETION OF PILOT PROGRAM (File Ref. No. 01-0154-04) (REDMS No. 5595141)
 - That the staff report titled "City of Richmond-TransLink TravelSmart (1) Partnership – Completion of Pilot Program", dated October 20, 2017, from the Director. Transportation be received for information: and
 - (2) That a copy of the above report be forwarded to the Richmond Council-School Board Liaison Committee for information.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

16. **TRANSLINK SOUTHWEST AREA TRANSPORT PLAN – RESULTS OF PHASE 2 CONSULTATION AND PREPARATION OF DRAFT** FINAL PLAN

(File Ref. No. 01-0154-04) (REDMS No. 5491921 v.10)

- That as described in the report titled "TransLink Southwest Area (1) Transport Plan – Results of Phase 2 Consultation and Preparation of Draft Final Plan" dated November 1, 2017 from the Director, Transportation:
 - The comments from the Senior Advisory Committee and staff be (a) forwarded to TransLink staff for incorporation into the draft final Plan; and
 - TransLink's draft recommendations for transit service and *(b)* regionally significant cycling corridors for the Southwest Area Transport Plan be endorsed for the purpose of public consultation on the draft final TransLink Southwest Area Transport Plan.
- (2) That staff be directed to report back with the draft final TransLink Southwest Area Transport Plan in January 2018.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

7.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

17. BURKEVILLE DRAINAGE (Ella Part No. 10 6060 04.01) (PEDMS No. 561780)

(File Ref. No. 10-6060-04-01) (REDMS No. 5617890 v.2)

That a moratorium on ditch infills in the Burkeville neighbourhood, until a piped drainage network is implemented as outlined in the report titled "Burkeville Drainage" dated October 27, 2017, from the Director, Engineering, be endorsed.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

18. 2017 UNION OF BC MUNICIPALITIES COMMUNITY EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS FUND

(File Ref. No.03-1087-36-01) (REDMS No. 5649642 v.3)

- (1) That the Dike Master Plan Phase 5 submission to the 2017 Union of BC Municipalities (UBCM) Community Emergency Preparedness Fund be endorsed; and
- (2) That should the Dike Master Plan Phase 5 submission be successful, the Chief Administrative Officer and General Manager, Engineering and Public Works be authorized to negotiate and execute the funding agreements with UBCM.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

19. ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE -REQUIREMENTS FOR NEW DEVELOPMENTS

(File Ref. No.12-8060-20-009756; 12-8060-20-009520; 10-6460-03) (REDMS No. 5496295 v.10; 5044355; 5466080)

(1) That Richmond Zoning Bylaw 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9756, which adds Section 7.15 Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure, identified in the report titled "Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure – Requirements for New Developments" dated October 15, 2017, from the Director, Engineering, be introduced and given first reading;



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- (2) That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 9000, Amendment Bylaw No. 9520, which amends Section 8.5 Transportation Capacity and Demand Management and Section 14.2.7.E Electric Vehicle Charging both regarding electric vehicles, identified in the report titled "Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure – Requirements for New Developments" dated October 15, 2017, from the Director, Engineering, be introduced and given first reading;
- (3) That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 9000, Amendment Bylaw No. 9520, having been considered in conjunction with:
 - (a) The City's Financial Plan and Capital Program; and
 - (b) The Greater Vancouver Regional District Solid Waste and Liquid Waste Management Plans;

is hereby found to be consistent with said programs and plans, in accordance with Section 477(3)(a) of the Local Government Act; and

(4) That Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 9000, Amendment Bylaw No. 9520, having been considered in accordance with Official Community Plan Bylaw Preparation Consultation Policy 5043, is hereby found not to require further consultation.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

20. OVAL VILLAGE DISTRICT ENERGY UTILITY BYLAW NO. 9134, AMENDMENT BYLAW NO. 9778 (File Ref. No. 10-6600-10-02; 12-8060-20-009778) (REDMS No. 5563539 v.7; 5604510; 5563438)

- (1) That the staff recommendation to amend the Oval Village District Energy Utility rate for services as presented in Option 2 of the report titled "Oval Village District Energy Utility Bylaw No. 9134, Amendment Bylaw No. 9778" be endorsed; and
- (2) That the Oval Village District Energy Utility Bylaw No. 9134, Amendment Bylaw No. 9778 be introduced and given first, second and third readings.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

21. ALEXANDRA DISTRICT ENERGY UTILITY BYLAW NO. 8641, AMENDMENT BYLAW NO. 9777

(File Ref. No. 10-6600-10-02; 12-8060-20-009777) (REDMS No. 5563441 v.9; 5604547)

- (1) That the staff recommendation to amend the Alexandra District Energy Utility rate for services as presented in Option 2 of the report titled "Alexandra District Energy Utility Bylaw No. 8641, Amendment Bylaw No. 9777" be endorsed; and
- (2) That the Alexandra District Energy Utility Bylaw No. 8641, Amendment Bylaw No. 9777 be introduced and given first, second and third readings.

ADOPTED ON CONSENT

NON-CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE – Mayor Malcolm D. Brodie, Chair

22. AMENDMENTS TO LOCAL ELECTION CAMPAIGN FINANCING LEGISLATION

(File Ref. No. 12-8125-80-01) (REDMS No. 5653439 v.2)

R17/20-5

It was moved and seconded

That a letter be written to the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing, with copies to Elections BC, Richmond MLAs, UBCM, and Richmond School Board, commenting on municipal election financing that:

- (1) under Bill 15, Local Elections Campaign Financing Amendment Act (2017):
 - (a) for fundraising events:
 - (i) there should be a distinction between a donation and the costs incurred for a fundraising event so that a donation is only that portion of a payment which exceeds the costs incurred to host the fundraiser; and



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- (ii) clarification of the treatment of funds raised through fundraisers within an event such as raffles, draws, auctions, etc;
- (b) provide clarification as to how and by whom the determination is made as to who qualifies as an eligible individual for the purpose of making a campaign donation;
- (c) remedy the unfairness in the proposed limitations on fundraising and spending for a slate of candidates versus an independent candidate; and
- (d) provide clarification of the retroactivity for the new rules under Bill 15;
- (2) under the Local Elections Campaign Financing Act, remedy the unfairness in the rules on disposition of surplus funds following an election for an independent candidate versus the rules on disposition for an Elector Organization;
- (3) tax deductions for donations to municipal campaigns should be provided, similar to campaign donations for Provincial and Federal elections; and
- (4) That the above recommendations and staff report be forwarded to the Council/School Board Liaison Committee.

The question on Resolution R17/20-5 was not called as discussion ensued with regard to (i) the use of net revenue calculations for fundraising events, (ii) the regulations related to funding limits, spending limits and surplus funds for independent candidates compared to elector organizations, (iii) the incorporation of tax deductions for donors to municipal election campaigns, and (iv) the introduction of spending limits for elector organizations.

In reply to queries from Council, David Weber, Director, City Clerk's Office, noted that candidates running under an elector organization may designate their portion of their spending limit to the elector organization to be spent by the elector organization on their behalf. Also, he noted that individuals are limited to a maximum donation of \$1,200 per year to independent candidates or elector organizations.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

Discussion further ensued regarding receiving clarification from the Province on spending limits for elector organizations. As a result, the following **amendment** was introduced:

R17/20-6 It was moved and seconded

That Part 1(c) be amended to read the following: "remedy the unfairness in the proposed limitations on fundraising and spending for a slate of candidates versus an independent candidate and amend the cap limit for slates to the equivalent of two candidates."

The question on Resolution R17/20-6 was not called as further discussion ensued with regard to the maximum spending limits of independent candidates compared to elector organizations and utilizing a sliding scale to set those limits.

The question on Resolution R17/20-6 was then called and it was **DEFEATED** with Mayor Brodie and Cllrs. Au, Dang, Johnston, Loo, McNulty, McPhail, and Steves opposed.

As a result of the discussion, the following referral was introduced:

R17/20-7

It was moved and seconded

was **CARRIED** with Cllr. Day opposed.

That issues raised by Part 1(c) of the letter to the Minister of Municipal Affairs and Housing be further examined by staff for specific analysis and report back.

CARRIED Opposed: Cllrs. Day Loo The question on the main motion, Resolution R17/20-5, was then called and it



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

PLANNING COMMITTEE – Councillor Linda McPhail, Chair

23. PROPOSED CHANGES: STEVESTON AREA PLAN, VILLAGE HERITAGE CONSERVATION POLICIES, DESIGN GUIDELINES AND LONG-TERM BAYVIEW, MONCTON AND CHATHAM STREET VISIONS

(File Ref. No. 08-4045-20-04; 12-8060-20-009775) (REDMS No. 5561802 v. 6; 5579854; 5467979; 5579854; 5576217; 5670447; 5669715; 5447024; 5671788)

R17/20-8 I

- It was moved and seconded
- (1) That staff be directed to:
 - (a) incorporate both the "Sakamoto Guidelines for Area Revitalization (1987)" and "Sakamoto Guidelines for Façade Improvements (1989)" in their entirety, into the Steveston Area Plan;
 - (b) incorporate design guidelines that would require solid nontransparent barrier railings for rooftop structures;
 - (c) incorporate design guidelines that would restrict the use of brick only for the replacement of existing brick façades throughout the Village; and
 - (d) remove the proposed policy to establish a bridge connection to the Gulf of Georgia site;

and to make the necessary changes to Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment Bylaw 9775;

- (2) That new developments in the Riverfront Area south of Bayview Street be restricted to a maximum of two storeys and a maximum density of 1.2 FAR;
- (3) That the recommended long-term Bayview, Moncton and Chatham Street Streetscape visions be referred back to staff for further investigation and future reporting on issues related to details of the streetscape elements, the Steveston interurban tram and an upgraded Steveston bus exchange; and



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

- (4) That each of the following bylaws be introduced and given first reading:
 - (a) Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment Bylaw 9775; and
 - (b) Richmond Official Community Plan Bylaw 7100, Amendment Bylaw 9797.

The question on Resolution R17/20-8 was not called as discussion ensued with regard to (i) the consideration of in-stream applications along the Steveston waterfront under the existing bylaws, (ii) the process to consider variances to height and density, (iii) the public consultation process, (iv) the maintenance of public access to the waterfront, and (iv) the maintenance of accessibility in new developments.

The question on Resolution R17/20-8 was then called and it was **CARRIED** with Cllr. Loo opposed.

It was moved and seconded

That in-stream development applications in the Steveston Area be grandfathered under the existing bylaws.

The question on Resolution R17/20-9 was not called as discussion ensued with regard to the current number of in-stream applications and Wayne Craig, Director, Development, advised that only one development application (located on 3880 Bayview Street) would contravene the proposed changes to the Steveston Area Plan.

As a result of the discussion the following **referral** was introduced:

R17/20-9 It v

It was moved and seconded

That the question of whether to consider the in-stream development application for 3880 Bayview Street to be grandfathered under the existing bylaws be referred to staff for consideration in conjunction with the application and report back.

The question on the referral motion, R17/20-9, was not called as discussion ensued with regard to waterfront development in Steveston.

The question on R17/20-9 was then called and it was **CARRIED** with Cllrs. Day, Loo McNulty and Steves opposed.

14.

Minutes



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

PUBLIC DELEGATIONS ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS

R17/20-10 24. It was moved and seconded

That Council resolve into Committee of the Whole to hear delegations on non-agenda items (8:56 p.m.).

CARRIED

With the aid of a PowerPoint presentation (copy on-file, City Clerk's Office), John Irving, Director, Engineering, spoke on the sanitary sewer replacement and paved lane construction between Richmond Street and Broadway Street, noting the following:

- the replacement of the failed sewer main has commenced;
- the City does not actively monitor illegal encroachments and illegal encroachments are only removed when safety issues are identified or to facilitate the construction or maintenance of public infrastructure;
- there is no City policy to allow permanent encroachments;
- easements or statutory right-of-ways (SRWs) differ from road dedications in that easements and SRWs place an encumbrance on the private property that allows specific uses, while the underlying property rights are retained by the owner, compared to a road dedication where the owner does not retain any private property rights;
- the City has no plans to open laneways on easements or SRWs; and
- the City has conducted public open houses and have sought input on the finished laneway features from affected residents.

Cllr. Johnston left the meeting (8:58 p.m.) and returned (8:59 p.m.). Cllr. Au left the meeting (9:06 p.m.) and returned (9:08 p.m.). **Minutes**



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

Sewer repair and Laneway Construction between Richmond Street and Broadway Street

(1) Chris Back, Richmond resident, read from his submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1), and spoke against the proposed construction of a laneway between Richmond Street and Broadway Street.

In reply to queries from Council, staff noted that there are no City policies that contradict the construction of the proposed laneway.

- (2) With the aid of a PowerPoint presentation (copy on-file, City Clerk's Office), Karen Smith, Richmond resident, read from her submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1) and expressed concern that the proposed laneway may have a negative impact on traffic safety in the neighbourhood.
- (3) Tim Major, Richmond resident, read from his submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1) expressed that the proposed laneway may have a negative impact on green space in the area. He suggested that that a greenway may be an alternative to the proposed laneway.
- (4) Kent Goodhew, Richmond resident, read from his submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1) and expressed concern with regard to the public consultation process.
- (5) Rob Hulyk, Richmond resident, referenced his submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1) and expressed that the proposed laneway may have a negative impact on traffic in the area. Also, he commented on potential alternatives to paved laneways that other cities have adopted.
- (6) Vito Albanese, Richmond resident, read from his submission (attached to and forming part of these minutes as Schedule 1) and expressed that the proposed laneway may negatively affect green space and traffic in the area.
- R17/20-11 25. It was moved and seconded *That Committee rise and report (9:48 p.m.).*

16.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

Cllr. Steves left the meeting (9:48 p.m.) and returned (9:50 p.m.).

PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS AND EVENTS

Mayor Brodie announced the following 2018 Advisory Committee appointments:

Economic Advisory Committee

Two-Year Term to expire on December 31, 2019

- Parm Sandhu (Chair)
- Yasmin Ali
- Gilles Assier
- Patrick Caffrey
- Dave Frank
- Shikha Sondhi
- Alfred Wong
- Michael Priest

Richmond Intercultural Advisory Committee

Two-Year Term to expire on December 31, 2019

- Joan Page
- Naresh (Nick) Chopra
- Rod Belleza
- Nigel Pronger
- Diane Sugars
- Ashok Rattan



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

Child Care Development Advisory Committee

Two-Year Term to expire on December 31, 2019

- Daan Kaur Matharu
- Adam Picotte
- Lucia Rincon
- Ofra Sixto

Advisory Design Panel

Two-Year Term to expire on December 31, 2019

- Greg Andrews
- Mona Lovgreen
- Sheng Zhao

YVR Aeronautical Noise Management Committee

Two-Year Term to expire on December 31, 2019

Gary Abrams

NEW BUSINESS

Cllr. Day moved a motion that the lane policy for perpendicular lanes be reviewed.

Mayor Brodie ruled that the motion was out of order.

Cllr. Day called for a Point of Order and challenged the Chair's ruling.

In accordance with procedure, the Mayor put the following question to Council "Is the Chair to be sustained?"

The question as to whether the Chair is to be sustained was called and it was **CARRIED** with Cllr. Day opposed.



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

BYLAWS FOR ADOPTION

R17/20-12 It was moved and seconded

That the following bylaws be adopted:

Business Licence Bylaw No. 7360, Amendment Bylaw No. 9763

Waterworks and Water Rates Bylaw No. 5637, Amendment Bylaw No. 9781

Drainage, Dyke and Sanitary Sewer Bylaw No. 7551, Amendment Bylaw No. 9782

Waterworks and Water Rates Bylaw No. 5637, Amendment Bylaw No. 9785

Solid Waste & Recycling Regulation Bylaw No. 6803, Amendment Bylaw No. 9791

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9557 (Westerly 110 m wide portion of 10060 No. 5 Road, RZ 13-641554)

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9579 (3360/3380 Blundell Road, RZ 15-710447)

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9621 (9771 Sealily Place, RZ 16-735240)

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9744 (To establish zoning for the property developed under Land Use Contract 039)

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9746 (To establish zoning for the property developed under Land Use Contract 064)

Richmond Zoning Bylaw No. 8500, Amendment Bylaw No. 9748 (to establish zoning for the properties developed under Land Use Contract 126)

CARRIED



Regular Council Monday, November 27, 2017

ADJOURNMENT

R17/20-13 It was moved and seconded *That the meeting adjourn (9:54 p.m.).*

CARRIED

Certified a true and correct copy of the Minutes of the Regular meeting of the Council of the City of Richmond held on Monday, November 27, 2017.

Mayor (Malcolm D. Brodie)

Corporate Officer (David Weber)

City Council Package - Steveston Laneways

Overview

Chris Back - Richmond Street

I'm sure everyone is aware of why we are here, but in short, the sewer system behind our homes on Richmond St and Broadway St between No. 1 Rd and 3rd Ave has failed and needs to be replaced. This land is owned by the City and they are planning to implement an extensive back lane development initiative across a significant sector of this neighbourhood and community. We also want to be clear that we are separating the sewer replacement from this discussion and we ask you to do the same. We have no issues with the sewer being replaced and the work that is currently going on to do so. We recognize the need for this work.

We seek to address Mayor and Council regarding the laneway development; on what we see is a significant erosion of the fundamental structure and livability of our community. You will hear from six of us today, outlining different issues, but with one consistent ask - please put a moratorium on the laneway development until the City has fully consulted with our community.

We all recognize and celebrate Steveston as a Historic Fishing Village and a huge part of the rich history of the west coast fishing industry, an iconic set for many Hollywood movies and TV shows, a vibrant and healthy desirable place to live, and an important nationally recognized historic community. It is also a place where people reside in a safe and walkable community where neighbours interact, and is fundamentally a very special place to live in close proximity to nature, at the doorstep to one of Canada's major cities.

What the City is proposing is set to fundamentally change and transform that inherent structure, fabric, character and livability of this area in a very negative way.

It follows no higher purpose, nor does it follow any principles that one could find in planning livable cities in Canada or any other jurisdiction. It does not serve to mold the future of our community to the benefit of those of us who live here to make it safer, sustainable or livable.

Your Official Community Plan is intended to reflect the overall values of the community, a vision for the future of our city. The goals for Steveston are to create a vibrant community, conserving heritage character and landscapes, conserving and enhancing the natural environment, and protecting residential character. None of this is reflective of this back lane development.

This initiative conflicts with your Ecological Network approach that recognizes the importance of natural areas including backyards that support habitat for birds and wildlife, reduce the need for artificial runoff, and promote food production in a healthy community.

Your Service objectives for improvement in a cost effective and environmentally sound way also fall short of this action, as these back lanes increase water runoff, inhibit infiltration, add additional capital expenditure costs, as well as long term maintenance and life cycle costs that are currently not required, as the residents are willingly carrying the burden of these costs.

Your strict bylaws have policies and initiatives relating to things such as tree protection and environmental protection, yet your back lane construction is removing massive trees and significant green areas that address greenhouse gas emissions addressing Bill 27 targets.

This plan also conflicts with the Sustainability Framework adopted by the City in 2010. We recognize our fragile and important island ecosystem yet erode the fundamentals that create it, by taking out green space and replacing it with heat absorbing asphalt.

Schedule 1 to the Minutes of the Regular meeting of Richmond City Council held on Monday, November 27, 2017.

Back lane transportation and infrastructure planning creates a vehicle centric additional road network promoting GHG emissions and increasing carbon footprint and global warming. It runs contrary to planning efforts to reduce vehicular priority and moves toward car share and alternate forms of commuting. It impacts a pedestrian program to improve the safety and environment for the pedestrian.

The shape of our community effects every part of our daily lives and the health and wellbeing of those of us who live here. Fundamental changes to the fabric of a city are massively detrimental when they erode green space, segment housing areas, divide neighbours, introduce traffic congestion and safety issues, and damage the environment.

We would suggest that there is a better way to construct communities that involve consultation, alternate schemes, and visionary thinking. In fact, your Official Community Plan specifies the need for community consultation in times like these, something that has not yet occurred regarding laneways in Steveston.

Your back lane construction initiative that you have triggered does nothing for our community, and we have yet to hear a logical reason from the City as to why this is going ahead.

- 1. City Engineering has confirmed that they do not require laneway access for servicing the sewer system
- 2. We already have 7 streets running east/west between Steveston Hwy and Chatham, so we do not need additional laneways running in the same direction to improve traffic flow or improve pedestrian or cyclist access in fact, having lanes exiting onto No. 1 Rd significantly impacts the safety of all of those around us
- 3. Your Official Community Plan does not suggest laneway development in our area of Steveston this is very clearly depicted in the lane network map on page 101 and the arterial road housing development map on page 93 of the OCP.
 - And even if it did, the OCP states on multiple pages that the City must "Consider community values and input when implementing the OCP"
 - It also states to "Use a variety of traditional and innovative approaches for consulting with and involving members of the public in community activities and planning processes"

You are going to hear from a group of residents today. Each of them will outline further details as to why we feel lane development throughout our area of Steveston is unnecessary, will cost millions of dollars to taxpayers, and is illogical. You will hear the passion that we have about this issue as we seek an opportunity to be heard, before the City comes in and completely changes our community.

Again, the issue here is what happens after the sewer work is complete. We ask that minimize the damage to the environment while fixing the sewer and then put a moratorium on the development of the laneway until you have consulted with our area of Steveston. This is not only about the 36 homes directly impacted by the current laneway development; it is about the 800 or so homes in our area of Steveston whom this will impact as all sewers are replaced in the near future.

To quote Joni Mitchell "You're Paving Paradise to Put up a Parking lot".

Livability

My name is Karen Smith and I live on Richmond Street. I have lived in Richmond for my entire life and couldn't imagine living anywhere else. I wanted to speak about the impact the development of new laneways will have on the livability of this particular area of Steveston. I believe new laneways will bring several negative impacts to the community with no tangible benefits.

People have moved into our area because of its uniqueness. It's not like a subdivision and it's not like the city city centre. I personally moved here because of the unique character in this particular area of Steveston. The majority of lots here are some of the smallest in Richmond at 33' x 110'. If the new lane is put in, these small lots will be flanked by asphalt on both the front and the back. The city has approved and continues to approve home construction with garages in the front and bedrooms in the rear. The homes are set back on the property leaving long front driveways. These residences have been designed in a way that it will be impossible to put in a garage off the lane even if we wanted to. Many of these homes are not likely to be redeveloped within the next 40-50 years. So the new lane will not be used for garages or vehicles in these cases.

I previously lived in a home with a laneway in this area of Steveston on Hunt Street. I personally witnessed nuisance crimes such as graffiti on the fences, drug use, and garbage dumping...things that are not reported to the police. Other issues arose from having our bedroom back onto the laneway. There was noise from drunk people walking home at night or continuing their party in the back lane. I am concerned that these issues will be the same or worse for the potential new lane as we are now even closer to the village centre pubs and restaurants. I can only try to imagine what the lane will look like on or after the busy Canada Day weekend.

There are serious concerns regarding traffic safety. This proposed new lane would intersect with a busy area of No 1 Road at one end and a dedicated bike lane on Second Ave at the other end. This creates unnecessary safety hazards for pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. There is no way that the families in this area would feel safe allowing their children to play in this proposed lane.

If the city took the time to come and consult with the the residents they would also hear that parents and families are here because the yards provide security for their children to play freely. Front yards, especially without curbs or sidewalks do not provide that option. Lanes will displace families from their own back yards to public parks that are already very busy with families from the nearby condos and townhouses. Adding lanes will lessen livability by removing green space that has been there for residents to use for 70 or so years and it will be replaced, by asphalt, pollution, garbage, traffic, exhaust, and noise - all in a space that most us rely on to unwind and recuperate. We have been struggling trying to figure out how the lane benefits the community. It would be great to understand why the lane is needed. There has been no real communication or consultation in this regard.

Furthermore, although our yards were not that big to begin with, at least they were all adjoining. So in actual fact, we were surrounded by a pretty big area of contiguous green space, unbroken except for fences. Right now the sounds we hear are those of children playing or families gathering. It really does feel like a special place, a place where you can forget you are in a heavily paved city. It's special and we value it. A lane would wipe out that feeling and we will be separated into little boxes with postage stamp yards, circumscribed by asphalt.

In the Steveston Area Plan portion of the Official Community Plan in the Neighbourhood and Housing section there appears to be a clear distinction between new development projects and existing residential housing. The document says <u>'With all the potential growth in Steveston, the nature and character of the existing residential areas must be protected</u>. Adding lanes does not seem consistent with protecting the nature and character of this special residential area. To be clear, we are not against lanes in general, we are against lanes in our area as they derive no benefit.

I would like you to take a moment to focus on the photos being shown. The photos illustrate a number of things including how close the rear of homes (especially bedrooms) are to the proposed lane and the amount of usable/livable green space that would have to be removed to install a lane.

There are also photos of how the land has been used and enjoyed by the residents for many, many years contrasted against some of the existing lanes in the Steveston area.

I would like to conclude by requesting that a moratorium be placed on the installation of the new lane and time be taken to complete a full public consultation regarding future lane development in this special area of Steveston.

Environmental Impact

My name is Tim Major, I live on Pleasant Street, with two children 8 and 3. Currently Pleasant St. isn't directly impacted by the laneway construction but as this news moves quickly door-to-door, throughout our community, I found myself asking "Why".

Part of the uniqueness of our community is it's walkable outdoor living space and our appreciation for the special eco-system at our door step. The proposed laneway is environmentally problematic due the dramatic reduction in green space.

Green space is of tremendous value for it's reduction to GHG. Healthy lawns neutralize carbon emissions. One Avg. lawn can neutralize the emissions of a standard car driving a distance of 600 km. Lawns have 10 times the benefit of a tree due to it's density and rate of growth. Basically you can grow more, faster, and have a greater impact on carbon emissions.

The current 36 lots directly impacted will lose 10% of their total size, all of which is green space. Approximately 12,000 sq. ft. of turf grass and vegetation lost between No. 1 Rd and 2nd Avenue alone. Roughly extrapolating this across our community results in 6 acres of green space, or the equivalent of 5 football fields, lost to asphalt. This equates to removing approx. 55,000 pure liters of oxygen from the air each day or what 100 people would consume daily.

Why are we making this sacrifice and removing so much beneficial green space?

Not only are greenhouse gas emissions effected in the current direction but also the impact to our community in the case of floods or storm water run-off.

Richmond is considered a location that is apt for flooding in the coming decades. This concerns me. Richmond get's 44 inches of rain per year. What happens when the 100 year flood hits? Roads, parking lots, sidewalks, pavements, along with asphalt, concrete, brick, stone, and other building materials, combine to create impervious surfaces that resist the natural absorption of water. Cities flood not because of water accumulation but due to the lack of places for it to go. The Atlantic Magazine, and many more sources, noted that excessive paving and hardscaping were major factors in the recent Hurricane and subsequent flooding in Houston Texas. We need to ensure this can't happen in our community.

I am a 12 year resident of Richmond and have become proud to call this city home for it's green initiatives of waste diversion with curbside green carts, creation of walkable green space along Railway, and community gardens to name a few.

When I first read, the OCP vision for 2041, one item that stood out was that Richmond understood it's not enough to "do less harm" and valued "Carbon Sequestration - "...protect and enhance Richmond's natural environments to support carbon retention as well as other important ecosystem service" and "Councils endorsement of a 10% energy reduction of 2007 levels by 2020". Will we achieve these objectives by removing 5 footballs fields of grass and replacing it with asphalt? Asphalt is intended solely for car use. This is rapidly changing. We are moving towards a sharing economy (car2go, modo, evo, Mobi bikes) and in short-order Uber and Lyft. Why are we building long-term infrastructure when fewer vehicles are the future?

These are only a few points on the environment, each of which will have dramatic impact on our community. Isn't this worth a conversation?

We are asking for a moratorium on the decision to construct a laneway until a consultation is undertaken based on the needs of our unique community.

Cost Benefit

See separate attachment

Contradictions with the Official Community Plan

Rob Hulyk - I live at 3771 Broadway St with my wife and 10 year old daughter. We have lived on Broadway street for 16 years, and my home is approximately 20 years old.

I for one do not envy Council at times like this. There are certainly no shortages of opinions about Steveston Village - which I think is a reminder that we are lucky to call Steveston and Richmond home.

Clearly we support the City and staff in fixing the acute problem with our sewer system. It would also not come as a surprise to us that there may be other sewer problems elsewhere in the village.

That in a nutshell is what I asked to speak tonight and my first question. If we are simply the first in line, is this also the vision for all of Steveston Village and do the residents know about this? If the last couple weeks are any indication, I would suggest many residents of the village are completely unaware of the long term vision of creating laneways across the entire village.

Now ignorance is never an excuse, but in fairness most people do not wake up in the morning and ask themselves "I wonder what is going on in the official community plan under sections 3, 8 and 9.2.5?" Obviously this has become more important to us in recent weeks.

So what I would like to do is to outline what we see as are some of the questions and somewhat contradictory points that seem to occur in the plans and recent decision to build a laneway.

For example, the Official Community Plan declares that we should manage traffic flow and enhance neighbourhood livability by requiring lanes <u>parallel</u> to major roads. This laneway is clearly not parallel and in fact goes right onto No. 1 Road. I am actually nervous thinking about any car or cyclist trying a left turn onto 1 road from this location.

Another goal expressed in the OCP's is better managing traffic and reducing conflicting traffic volume entering and exiting neighbourhoods. There are already 7 perpendicular roads running west off of No. 1 Rd between Steveston highway and Chatham. Contrast that with only 2 perpendicular roads between Steveston Hwy and Williams and 2 between Williams and Francis.

So we already have three times the westward access of other areas of similar size. So what problem are we exactly solving with a laneway by adding more east/west routes in this area? Does the data on traffic volume suggest this is in fact needed?

That leads me to my second question - how does this decision stack up against other priorities for the neighbourhood? Given the potential cost and resources potentially involved, what are we choosing

not to do in our neighbourhood or city in order to build these laneways? And is the opportunity cost worth it and demonstrable?

For context - my home like many is far back on the lot with the garage in the front. My yard will only be reduced in size by about 5 feet or so which we acknowledge given it was city land already. However, based on the stake in my yard the new fence-line will only be 20 feet from the back of my house. The simple fact is that there is no garage going there anytime soon.

In contrast to how close we are to the fence line in the back - almost all of us also have 60 feet or more of lawns, driveways and asphalt in front of our homes. 40 feet of that is also city land which we are required to care for and do so without complaint. In fact of the 37 homes on Richmond and Broadway streets between No. 1 Rd and 2nd Ave., 33 of them are in this position with the parking and garages in the front. Many of these homes, like my two neighbours to the west are brand new with no chance of any garage or reconstruction for likely decades.

So is it any wonder why we are concerned about adding a 6 meter wide lane behind us which many of us will never use? Again what problem are we solving?

More importantly why is that the priority to spend time and money on when we don't even have sidewalks anywhere in the front running from east to west? If livability and safety are in fact a priority in the plan - why is the lane able to be created so quickly and not sidewalks so my daughter has a safer walk to Lord Byng each day?

Which leads me to my last point. Given the potential cost and impact on our community in the short and long term, is it not worth a pause so that residents fully understand what the future will look like and have an opportunity for consultation?

Whether the answer is a green belt, or community gardens or other options in that space - there simply has to be a better answer to this situation than adding more cost and asphalt to the village at the cost of other options. It comes back again to the key question about the laneway which is simply why are we doing this?

Council correctly showed foresight and strategic thinking in looking at its heritage and street planning over the last several years. That process provided residents with visual concepts and was open to feedback.

I would simply ask for the same to occur here. There is simply no rush here beyond fixing the sewer line which is why we are asking for the pause on the laneway construction. This in fact has given us an opportunity for a discussion about this type of space in our village. In conclusion I would simply ask for consideration of three things.

First - provide Steveston Village residents with updated information about the vision for Steveston Village north of Chatham, and do it in a collaborative manner as you have in the past.

Second - put the visuals and diagrams up about what it could look like now and years from now for both the front and back of our homes so the residents of Steveston are fully informed.

Lastly - give residents a chance to give feedback and let's see what ideas we can generate.

Conclusion and request for Full Public Consultation

My name is Vito Albanese and I live at 3888 Richmond St. and my home is one of the properties directly impacted by the current lane development. Firstly, I want to thank the Mayor and Council for allowing our group to present to you today. I am the final speaker.

I want to thank my fellow neighbours as I've never seen an issue galvanize a community so quickly, even those not currently impacted. This has happened because of a unilaterally imposed back lane development initiative that will impact a significant portion of our community and will fundamentally change the character and livability in a very negative way.

Although many of us have been impacted personally, this is not about us but about the negative impacts of lanes to our community as they will change the natural look of the community and health and wellbeing of those of us who live here.

The group has outlined many of the reasons why this lane development just doesn't make sense:

- Times are changing and the long term need for vehicles and supporting infrastructure is diminishing
- There is a negative impact to the environment and is decreasing our green space
- There is increased safety risks for pedestrians, cyclists, vehicles and children especially on an ally that intersects at #1 Rd.
- It creates another access point for criminal activity, including a place for drug use, garbage, noise, graffiti, traffic, and exhaust
- The city is in contradiction of its own Official Community Plan which has a focus on public consultation
- The current lane being developed is not consistent with the intent of the 2000 Lane Policy
- The plan ignores the The Sustainability Framework adopted by the City in 2010. Taking out green space and replacing it with heat generating asphalt
- We are spending taxpayer money on lanes when our area still has ditches and no sidewalks or curbs
- The decision ignores the uniqueness of the area that has small narrow lots. Adding more asphalt and removing green space is illogical
- We are using a significant amount of taxpayer money to build a lane that will provide no benefit to the community
- And, there is overwhelming community opposition to lanes in our area, not only by the people who are currently being impacted but by others that will be impacted over time.

We are asking for public consultation as outlined in the Official Community Plan on page 1-6 where it talks about goals of the OCP. Goal # 2 is titled 'Connected and Accessible'. It says, 'People are connected to and interact with each other. Places, buildings, and activities are connected and easily accessed by everyone. Decisions with respect to housing, business development, parks, recreation, transportation and community access, including street design (the public realm) and repair <u>will be made with public consultation.'</u>

On page 13-2 of the OCP it talks about policies. Specifically 13.1.2 is titled 'Community Values and Consultation'. Objective #1 is to consider community values and input in implementing the OCP.

We believe that going ahead with the lane is against the intent of the OCP as it relates to public consultation. It also goes against the OCP with respect to a developing a livable green community.

The lane and the sewer repair are mutually exclusive issues. The sewer needs to be replaced. The lane needs proper public consultation.

When changes were being considered under the OCP for the areas of Burkeville, Edgemere and Richmond Gardens, there was extensive consultations with the residents of those areas. These are outlined in the 2011 - 2041 OCP Third Round Consultation Findings. Why didn't it happen in our case?

In our situation this only came to our attention two and a half weeks ago by a hand delivered letter dated November 7th. The letter advised that the sewer had failed and as part of the project the City will also be putting in a paved laneway. The City held two open houses within days of the letter in which residents were told, not consulted, about what was happening. The letter was in English so some residents couldn't read or understand it. In addition, letters only went to our block and not the rest of the area. At the sessions nobody was able to explain why this was happening and that if we had questions we needed to contact City Hall. Crews were on site the next business day, meaning crews were onsite within a week of us getting the initial letter! I hope you can appreciate why people are so upset. We have been doing our best to communicate with the residents in this short time the best that we can. Awareness and concern is growing and support continues to grow.

We would like to work with the City to come up with other reasonable solutions. An asphalt lane is probably the worst possible solution for the community.

We are not asking for public consultation with respect to lane design or features. <u>What we are asking</u> for a moratorium on building the new lane and all lanes in our area until a formal public consultation process has been completed.

You really need to see what's going on in person. You would quickly realize that it just doesn't make sense. We are inviting the City decision makers to do a walk around the community with us.

Additional attachments:

- 1. Cost Benefit analysis Kent Goodhew
- 2. Powerpoint slides from speakers

Dollar Costing, Utility and Benefit Discussion for Proposed Laneway

Good evening my name is Kent Goodhew, my wife and our four children live at 3811 Broadway St. Our concern is not regarding the construction for repair but that of the proposed paved laneway that the City is proposing once construction is complete. This is why I have requested to speak here this evening, in order to voice our concern and the concern of others regarding the implementation of a paved laneway that no one wants or needs.

Thus, my pressing question to the mayor and council is two fold: Why has the city decided unilaterally to implement a paved laneway now? Secondly, if this is part of a larger, higher purpose plan for the area why has the city not communicated this plan and more specifically not provided the tax paying residents a venue for consultation and feedback? Transparency, ladies and gentlemen is the life blood of good governance as well as being the key to winning the hearts and minds of constituents. The decision dictated to us thus far has failed in that regard entirely.

My friends and neighbours and I have come here this evening and waited patiently to express our disappointment, frustration and concern regarding that failing. It is our profoundest hope that together, through cooperation and transparency that we can come to an arrangement that will benefit all stake holders while creating an improved neighbourhood – leaving it better than we found it and making it better than it was. *and by the way, it was already pretty darn good.

As I understand it, in 1989 the city had documented and implemented right of ways corresponding to sewer connections and other key infrastructure throughout Steveston. This was explained to me by me realtor in 2004 when I purchased my home, as a city easement of 10' along the rear border of our yard. They explained that is was city property, and it was there in case the city chose to put in a laneway. They went on to say "if they haven't done it by now, I can't imagine them doing it in the future." Well here we are, 13 years later, trying to imagine why.

I would like the mayor and council to reflect upon the following points as we move forward together on this project.

When the city conceded the use of this land to the property owners they, inadvertently, created a highly efficient and amazingly beneficial symbiotic relationship. Specifically;

- The city transferred the costs of maintenance, repair and upkeep from tax payers to the property owners thus saving thousands and thousands of dollars every year which continued over the course of 28 years or nearly 3 decades. Let's assume conservatively that the city would have spent \$10,000 (1989 dollars) annually maintaining, repairing, pruning, mowing and otherwise managing these lands. The property owners have thus

saved tax payers over \$500,000 (adjusted from 1989 dollars) over this period, I suspect it's actually much more.

- Additionally, the city avoided any costs for beautification and passed these costs onto the property owners during this period as well. Clearly the property owners were up to the task because you can see in our small sample of these lands an amazing variety of trees, including Fig, Palm, Banana and Beech. So this model has provided monumental gains in efficiency by having the owners care for these lands. All the stake holders are benefactors here. The tax payers save taxes as the city saves costs, the owners benefit by enjoying and tending beautiful neighbourhoods the community benefits by all these facts and the environment benefits the most. This would be a win win win win. There is no alternate plan that could provide as much benefit to the constituents and community of Steveston. So again the question arises..... Why?
- Other items I would like to note for your consideration are

The very expensive and unwanted burden on tax payers of implementing a paved laneway that no one wants, and no one wants to pay for is conservatively estimated to be \$573,000 for this one block alone. This does not account for additional items like speed bumps, warning signs, parking signs, lighting, painting, maintenance etc. etc. [\$600/m x 955m] \$600/sq m laneway 5m wide by 191m (627 ft)

Lastly using the 1989 base price of \$60,000 for a 120 x 33 lot the 'marginal value' of these lands when conceded to the owners would be \$4,950 (\$15 x 330sq ft) [\$60,000/3,960 Sq feet = \$15/sq foot]

The same land today that the city proposes on retracting would be \$100,000 per individual household or combined for this one block the city is proposing on annexing \$3.8M of greenspace in order to pave it. (Based on a 33 x 120 lot sold for \$1.2 M or \$303 per sq ft.) [330sq ft x \$303sq ft]

In summary, after deferring all associated costs of ownership, and literally abandoning these lands for nearly 30 years, the City now wants to repossess these lands, which have a real value to the constituents of over \$3.8M. The purpose of which is not to improve the lands but to destroy them by cutting and paving them. This is not improving our community, nor enriching it, nor providing benefit of any kind. So, why Mr. Mayor, why is this the course you wish to plot?

Kent Goodhew

3811 Broadway St.